S208398

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

DARIEL SHAZIER,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. SUPREME COURT

FEB - 1 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H035423 Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. 210813 The Honorable Alfonso Fernandez, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. May the prosecutor examine witnesses in a civil commitment trial under the Sexually Violent Predators Act about the defendant's plans for release, including where he would live, the surrounding environs, and whether he would be under any form of supervision?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeal err in finding misconduct as to questions and argument to which there was no objection, failing to consider the remarks in the entire context of trial, and in relying on unpreserved claims and proper prosecutorial conduct to find prejudice?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Evidence at the Trial

On March 18, 2010, a jury found that defendant was a sexually violent predator (SVP), and the court committed him to the Department of Mental Health (DMH) for an indeterminate term. (3 CT 685-686.)¹

At trial, the prosecution presented evidence of defendant's long history of sexual assaults against teenage boys, and evidence that defendant suffered the requisite convictions for commitment as an SVP.

¹ This was defendant's third trial. The first trial resulted in a hung jury. A second trial resulted in an SVP commitment that was reversed on appeal for prosecutorial misconduct. (Slip Opn. at p. 2, fn. 1; *People v. Shazier* (May 8, 2006, H028674), review dism. in light of *People v. Lopez* (2008) 42 Cal.4th 960, (May 14, 2008, S144419).

In September 1987, defendant approached several teenage boys at a youth center, offered to give them karate lessons, and befriended them. (5 RT 305.) Soon after, defendant attempted to sexually assault one boy. (5 RT 305.) Defendant was arrested, but the charges were dismissed. (5 RT 305.)

In July 1988, defendant met a 17-year-old boy, befriended him, discussed karate, provided him alcohol, and drove him to an isolated place. Defendant then fondled the boy's penis. (5 RT 306-307.) Defendant was arrested, but the charges were dismissed. (5 RT 307.)

In October 1988, defendant approached and befriended Lee, a 16-year-old boy. (5 RT 308.) When defendant was alone with Lee, he forcibly sodomized him. (5 RT 308.) When arrested for the assault, defendant was giving a 15-year-old boy a massage. (5 RT 314.) Defendant was convicted of molesting Lee and sentenced to prison. (5 RT 314.)

In 1990, defendant was released on parole. (5 RT 314.) Within four months, he approached several teenage boys and offered them karate lessons. (5 RT 315.) Defendant's parole was revoked for contact with teenage boys. (5 RT 315.)

In November 1991, defendant was rereleased on parole. (5 RT 318.) Five weeks later, defendant met a 15-year-old boy, offered him karate lessons, grabbed the boy's groin area during a lesson, and called it a secret karate stretch. (5 RT 318-319.) The boy reported the incident to the police, and defendant's parole was revoked. (5 RT 321.)

In December 1992, defendant was paroled a third time. (5 RT 321.) Soon after, he befriended several teenage boys and offered to give them karate lessons. (5 RT 321-322.) He developed a "cult-like following" among the boys. (5 RT 322.) During this time, defendant kissed several boys, and grabbed their genitals. (5 RT 322, 328.)

In March 1994, defendant met and offered a ride to William, a 14-year-old boy. (5 RT 325-326.) Defendant took William to his home, pushed him against the wall, and forcibly sodomized him. (5 RT 326.)

Three weeks later, defendant approached 17-year-old Douglas, saying that he was a talent scout and the boy could make big money. (5 RT 324.) Eventually, defendant took Douglas to his home, gave him alcohol, and forcibly sodomized him twice. (5 RT 324-325.)

Dr. Craig Updegrove and Dr. Carolyn Murphy evaluated defendant as meeting the criteria for an SVP commitment. Based on the evaluations, the district attorney filed a petition to commit defendant as an SVP.

Dr. Updegrove testified that he diagnosed defendant with paraphilia not otherwise specified (NOS) with a sexual attraction to pubescent boys, sometimes called hebephilia. (5 RT 297.) Dr. Updegrove also diagnosed defendant with personality disorder NOS with antisocial and narcissistic traits. (5 RT 299.)

Dr. Murphy diagnosed defendant with paraphilia NOS, specifically nonconsenting persons or minors. (7 RT 521.) Dr Murphy also diagnosed defendant with personality disorder NOS with antisocial and narcissistic traits. (7 RT 549.) She did not diagnose hebephilia, which is not listed as a disorder in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM), but she recognized literature that recognizes hebephilia as its own disorder. (7 RT 523.)

Both doctors believed that defendant's mental disorders impaired his volitional and emotional control and that defendant was likely to engage in sexually predatory violent criminal acts as a result of his diagnosed mental disorders. (5 RT 342, 347, 350; 7 RT 516, 564, 580.) Drs. Updegrove and Murphy evaluated defendant's risk of reoffense using a revised actuarial tool, the Static 99-R. (6 RT 394; 7 RT 567.) Both doctors gave defendant a score of 5 on the Static 99-R, and found him to be comparable with other

high-risk subject sample groups that had recidivism rates ranging from 10 to 23 percent over five years, and 12 to 32 percent over 10 years. (6 RT 394-397; 7 RT 574.) Dr. Updegrove also evaluated defendant as scoring 6 on an updated actuarial tool, the Static 2002, which placed him in the medium-high risk group. (6 RT 402, 406.)

Both doctors recognized that defendant had been actively participating in the sex offender treatment program at the state hospital, but had only completed two of the five phases. (6 RT 419-425; 7 RT 582.) Both doctors found that defendant's participation was a positive factor affecting his likelihood of reoffense, but believed that he needed more treatment in a secure facility before it would be safe to release him. (6 425-431; 7 RT 583.) Dr. Updegrove pointed out defendant had a history of quickly reoffending even when released with parole conditions. (6 RT 430.)

Defendant testified that he used to be attracted to teenage boys, but that, like an alcoholic, he had learned in therapy to manage his behaviors so that he would not molest anyone again. (8 RT 703-706, 777.) Defendant testified that if he were released, he would live with his mother in the Washington D.C. area. (8 RT 778.) Defendant denied having a mental disorder, but planned to voluntarily continue outpatient sex offender therapy if released. (8 RT 788, 805-808; 9 RT 1089-1090, 1095.)

Dr. Theodore Donaldson evaluated defendant for the defense. (9 RT 915.) Dr. Donaldson found no evidence defendant suffered from paraphilia. (9 RT 920.) Dr. Donaldson opined that diagnosing paraphilia is difficult because the criteria are not well defined. (9 RT 924.) Dr. Donaldson found no evidence that defendant was aroused by the nonconsent of his victims, that he had a sexual preference for pubescent boys, or that he was disturbed by any such sexual preference. (9 RT 928, 940.) Dr. Donaldson also did not find defendant had seriously difficulty

controlling his behavior, because there was no evidence defendant had ever wanted to, or tried, to control his behavior. (9 RT 944.) Also, there was no evidence that defendant was "tormented" by the commission of his offenses. (9 RT 946.) As Dr. Donaldson explained, "I think that's what we'll eventually come up with for a legitimate diagnosis of pedophilia, that they have to be bothered by the behavior. If they're just doing it because they want to, that's just criminal behavior." (9 RT 945.) Dr. Donaldson also criticized the use of the Static 99 and Static 99-R for purposes of predicting the likelihood of reoffense. (9 RT 957-968.) Dr. Donaldson viewed the Static 99 as the best tool available, but estimated defendant's risk of reoffense was five to six percent over five years. (9 RT 968, 1101.)

Ex-SVP's David Litmon, Joseph Johnson, and Fred Grant testified that they had lived with defendant at the state hospital, and that he was always respectful and positive. Defendant stood up for other patients, helped solve conflicts, and was a representative in the governing of the living units. (8 RT 819-825, 833-837, 842-849.)

Michael Ross, a psychiatric technician, had worked at Atascadero State Hospital (ASH). He testified that defendant was ward representative and was not involved in any inappropriate conduct while housed at ASH. (8 RT 858-859, 868-869.)

Angelo Arrendondo and Phillip Morales, hospital police officers at Coalinga State Hospital, testified that defendant was well-behaved. (8 RT 881-882, 87-888.) Defendant acted as a liaison between the patients and the officers, and defendant would often help with difficult patients. (8 RT 882, 888-890.)

Defendant's sister, Crystal Bozeman, testified that she lives in Waldorf, Maryland. (10 RT 1105.) She testified defendant would live with their mother in the same area if he was released. (10 RT 1125.) Bozeman, along with their mother, would be part of his support system to ensure that

he succeeded in the community. (10 RT 1125-1126.) Bozeman had been helping defendant find a therapist in the area, and she was willing to help defendant financially if he needed it. (10 RT 1124-1125.)

B. Court of Appeal Decision

Defendant appealed the commitment. On December 27, 2012, the Court of Appeal for the Sixth Appellate District, in an opinion by Presiding Justice Rushing, held that the prosecutor had committed 10 instances of prosecutorial misconduct in trial. (Slip Opn. at pp. 7-18.) The Court of Appeal found the incidents constituted a "pervasive pattern of inappropriate questions, comments, and argument." (*Id.* at p. 18.) The Court of Appeal concluded that the "aggregate prejudicial effect of the prosecutor's misconduct therefore requires reversal." (*Id.* at p. 20.)

REASON FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

Review is necessary to secure uniformity of decision with the opinions of this Court addressing SVP cases and prosecutorial misconduct, and to settle important questions of law in those fields. The Court of Appeal's opinion is a profoundly disruptive precedent for the prosecution of SVP cases statewide. Among its misconceptions, the court held inadmissible the defendant's proposed community and the lack of parole restrictions if released, notwithstanding the prosecution's burden in an SVP proceeding to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the defendant is likely to reoffend if released into the community. Obviously, the defendant's living circumstances upon release inform both his likelihood of reoffense, and his amenability to voluntary treatment—factors that this Court has found are necessary to prove a civil commitment that comports with constitutional standards.

Equally worthy of review is the Court of Appeal's disregard of this Court's settled precedents regarding waiver and prosecutorial misconduct.

Among the 10 purported instances of prosecutorial misconduct, the appellate court disregarded the absence of an objection in at least half. In addition, it distorted the substantive standard for misconduct claims by ignoring material facts in order to infer the most damaging inference from the prosecutor's comments, in conflict with holdings of the United States Supreme Court and this Court. ²

I. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S HOLDING THAT QUESTIONING AND ARGUMENT ON DEFENDANT'S RELEASE PLANS WAS PREJUDICIAL MISCONDUCT REQUIRES REVIEW

Defendant testified that if released, he would live with his mother outside the District of Columbia. (8 RT 778.) Referring to the area surrounding his mother's home reflected in a map, defense counsel asked how defendant would handle his proximity to shopping malls and parks nearby. (9 RT 1076.) Defendant answered:

Well, there isn't really a reason for me to go to a park, so I wouldn't go to a park, especially when I know that they are frequented by minors. I wouldn't put myself in a high-risk situation like that given my background.

So as far as a mall is concerned, I feel safe. I feel confident in my own ability to go to a mall. However, though, what I've learned, and what I believe from group, this is what I would do. I wouldn't go by myself. I would have a support team member with me or somebody, a person like me so there'll always be checks and balances.

(9 RT 1077.)

With reference to the map of his mother's home, the prosecutor asked defendant if there were two elementary schools very close to where he would be living. (9 RT 1099.) Defendant said, "I don't believe so." (9 RT

² For similar reasons, contemporaneous with the filing of this petition for review we are filing a letter seeking depublication of the opinion. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.1125.)

1099.) The prosecutor then showed him two elementary schools on the map, and confirmed there was also a nearby park, shopping mall, and a fast-food outlet of a hamburger chain. (9 RT 1099-1100.)

During closing argument, the prosecutor discussed defendant's criminal history, then argued:

These are the facts that—that Mr. Shazier is a convicted child molester over and over and over. Remember, when [defense counsel] gets up and starts to argue to you, remember that notwithstanding what Mr. Shazier has done for people at Coalinga State Hospital, please remember that ever since he has been an adult, whenever he has been out of a secure facility he has always gone back to commit crimes after he said that he was sorry, after he said that he wouldn't do it again. After he said I never want to see a cell again, ever. What did he do, the opposite of what he said. You cannot and should not ignore that.

$[\P] \dots [\P]$

And so there is really no stopping Mr. Shazier, not even when he was on parole. And now of course, you know, he is not on parole. So when Mr. Shazier tells you that he is going to go live in Maryland with his mother, the only thing you have to go—the only thing that you have to believe that is what Mr. Shazier said. That is just, there is no other guarantee wherever he is going to live outside of where he currently lives is not a secured facility.

(10 RT 1228-1230.)

The Court of Appeal held the "prosecutor's reference to the proximity of schools to defendant's mother's house, as well as the fact that if released defendant would be living with his mother and would not be under the supervision of parole were improper references to the consequences of the

jury's verdict." (Slip Opn. at p. 11.) To support its conclusion, the Court of Appeal cited only decisions in criminal cases.³

In an SVP case, the prosecutor must prove that the respondent is likely to reoffend "unless confined in a secure facility." (CALCRIM No. 3454; *People v. Grassini* (2003) 113 Cal.App.4th 765, 777-778.) That defendant was unamenable to voluntary treatment and needed to be in a secure facility was an element the prosecution had to prove. Likewise, in conducting their evaluations, the experts were required to assess whether or not defendant was amenable to voluntary treatment, or whether confinement is necessary for the safety of the community. (*People v. Superior Court* (*Ghilotti*) (2002) 27 Cal.4th 888, 927-929.) Because confinement in a secure facility is an element that must be proved by the prosecution, the jury had to consider whether the circumstances surrounding release affects defendant's amenability to voluntary treatment, or otherwise affects his risk of reoffense. The appellate court's finding of prosecutorial misconduct from eliciting and arguing plainly relevant evidence on those points is inexplicable.

Indeed, defendant's plans for release were the crux of his case. The location and surroundings of his mother's residence, his plan to enroll in treatment in his mother's community, and the existence of a support system were integral to defendant's prevention plan against relapse. (See 9 RT 1077-1081.) It was defense counsel who presented defendant with the map and questioned him on his strategies for avoiding high-risk areas like parks and shopping malls. It was both logical and wholly permissible to cross-examine defendant on his plan for avoiding those areas, and to question

³ There was no objection to the questioning or argument by the prosecutor. The Court of Appeal's failure to consider the lack of objection is addressed in Argument II, *post*.

him about his actual knowledge of the surroundings in which he would be living. By holding such an examination and argument improper, the Court of Appeal impermissibly burdens the prosecution's ability to prove its case and hobbles the factfinder in SVP trials from considering relevant evidence on the central issues allocated to it for decision. Review should be granted.

II. REVIEW IS REQUIRED TO ENSURE CONFORMITY BY THE COURT OF APPEAL TO THIS COURT'S CONTEMPORANEOUS OBJECTION RULE AND TO ITS REQUIREMENT TO ANALYZE THE REASONABLE LIKELIHOOD THAT THE JURY CONSTRUED OR APPLIED THE COMPLAINED-OF REMARKS OF THE PROSECUTOR IN AN OBJECTIONABLE FASHION

As to eight of the purported instances of misconduct the Court of Appeal ignored facts in the record and misapplied this Court's misconduct and/or waiver jurisprudence. That led directly to its further erroneous conclusion that there was a "pervasive pattern" of misconduct and that the misconduct was prejudicial. (Slip Opn. at p. 18.)

"To preserve a claim of prosecutorial misconduct for appeal, a criminal defendant must make a timely objection, make known the basis of his objection, and ask the trial court to admonish the jury." (*People v. Brown* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 518, 553.) The Court of Appeal said "defense counsel objected to all of the prosecutor's improper questions, statements and arguments. We observe that not one of counsel's well-taken objections was sustained by the court." (Slip Opn. at pp. 18-19.) This is contradicted by the record. Defense counsel did not object to the prosecutor's questioning of defendant's release plans or the mention of parole during closing argument. (See IIA, IIB, *post*). Moreover, as discussed below, three additional alleged instances of misconduct were not objected to on any grounds. (See IIE, IIF, IIG, *post*.) The Court of Appeal incorrectly found the prosecutor's unobjected-to conduct was improper, and in relying on that conduct to assess prejudice.

Substantively, in assessing a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, the defendant must show a reasonable likelihood the jury understood or applied the complained-of comments in an improper or erroneous manner. (*People v. Berryman* (1993) 6 Cal. 4th 1048, 1072, disapproved on other grounds in *People v. Hill* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800, 823.) Moreover, "the standard in accordance with which his conduct is evaluated is objective." (*People v. Berryman, supra*, 6 Cal.4th at p. 1072.)

Here, the Court of Appeal incorrectly asserted the foregoing principle is only relevant to assessing prejudice once misconduct has been established. (Slip Opn. at p. 6 ["In considering prejudice, 'when the claim focuses upon comments made by the prosecutor before the jury, the question is whether there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury construed or applied any of the complained-of remarks in an objectionable fashion. . . ""].)

The Court of Appeal conflated harmless error analysis with the defendant's burden required to establish misconduct. As a consequence, the Court of Appeal erroneously assumed the most damaging meaning from ambiguous comments during the prosecutor's cross-examination and closing argument when it decided misconduct had occurred. In addition, the Court of Appeal ignored facts in the record which gave context to the prosecutor's alleged improper questioning and arguments. By ignoring the facts and inferring the most damaging meaning, the Court of Appeal's conclusions contravened settled rules of this Court and the United States Supreme Court with respect to the various allegations of misconduct. (See *Donnelly v. De Christoforo* (1974) 416 U.S. 637, 647 ["a court should not lightly infer that a prosecutor intends an ambiguous remark to have its most damaging meaning or that a jury, sitting through lengthy exhortation, will draw that meaning from a plethora of less damaging interpretations"]; *People v. Howard* (1992) 1 Cal.4th 1132, 1192 ["we do not lightly infer

that the prosecutor intended his remarks to have their most damaging meaning or that the jury drew that meaning rather than the less damaging one"].)

As detailed *post*, the Court of Appeal failed to apply this Court's precedents, leading to its erroneous conclusion that the misconduct was so "pervasive," as to require reversal. (Slip Opn. at p. 18.)

A. Questioning About Defendant's Release Plans

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