IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,) Plaintiff and Respondent,)	Case No. S208398
v.)	SUPREME COURT FILED
DARIEL SHAZIER,) Defendant and Appellant.)	FEB 1 9 2013
,	Frank A. McGuire Clerk
Sixth Appellate District Case No. Ho Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case The Honorable Alfonso Fernandez, Judg	No. 210813

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JILL A. FORDYCE, ESQ. (SBN #144517) P.O. Box 2058 Los Gatos, CA 95031 (408) 354-0737 in association with:

SIXTH DISTRICT APPELLATE PROGRAM 100 N. Winchester Blvd., Suite 310 Santa Clara, CA 95050 (408) 241-6171

Attorneys for Appellant Dariel Shazier

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant hereby adopts the Factual and Procedural Background in the opinion of the court of appeal (Opn., at pp. 1-5.) The court of appeal concluded that the prosecutor committed multiple instances of misconduct that prejudiced the defendant and reversed the judgment (Opn. at 20.) No petition for rehearing was filed by either party. Respondent filed a petition for review on February 1, 2013.

BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF ANSWER

Respondent seeks review in this case where the court of appeal held that there was a pervasive pattern of prosecutorial misconduct. Review should be denied because this case presents no issue of statewide importance and does not purport to create a conflict of authority. The court of appeal correctly applied established principles of law on a fact-intensive issue. Further, some of respondent's arguments for granting review are based on an inaccurate reading of the court of appeal's decision.

The court of appeal found that there was misconduct in this case because the prosecutor:

-asked the jury to consider the proximity of elementary schools in the neighborhood appellant would live if released and the fact that he would not be on parole;

-questioned the defense expert about five other sex offenders he evaluated and recited the heinous details of their crimes:

-mocked the defense expert in closing argument;

-impugned the character of defense counsel by calling him "deceptive" in closing argument;

-conducted argumentative, improper questioning of a defense witness;

-made inflammatory remarks to the jury during closing argument that they had been "groomed" by defendant after eliciting expert testimony that appellant had "groomed" his victims;

-referred to defense witnesses in closing argument as serial rapists and child molesters;

-referred to appellant in closing argument as the "unluckiest child molester in the world" and implied that he had committed many more crimes for which he wasn't caught; and

-asked the jury to consider how it would explain a verdict of "not true" to their friends and family.

In its discussion of the case, the court of appeal first held that the prosecutor committed "blatant misconduct" by "asking the jury to consider the reactions of their friends and family, fearing reproval should they find for the defendant." (Opn. at 9.) The court of appeal also found misconduct in the prosecutor's implication in closing argument that defendant had committed many other crimes. (Op. at 9.) Standing alone, each of these was an instance of prejudicial misconduct. Each had an appropriate objection on appropriate grounds. Each were properly analyzed under state and federal law. Neither of these instances are mentioned in Petition for Review, and both independently justify the opinion of the court of appeal.

The issues raised below do not present any departure from well-settled law and do not change the result in this case.

ISSUE #1: May the prosecutor examine witnesses in a civil commitment trial under the Sexually Violent Predators Act about the defendant's plans for release, including where he would live, the surrounding environs, and whether he would be under any form of supervision?

1. The Court of Appeal Applied Well-Settled Law When it Held That it Was Misconduct to Ask the Jury to Consider the Consequences Its Verdict

The court of appeal held that: "[t]he prosecutor's reference to the proximity of schools to defendant's mother's house, as well as the fact that if released defendant would be living with his mother and would not be under the supervision of parole were improper references to the consequences of the jury's verdict." (Op. at 11).

It is well-settled in both criminal and civil commitment cases that a jury should not consider what will happen as a result of its verdict. (*People v. Calderon* (2005) 124 Cal. App. 4th 80, 99, citing *People v. Rains* (1999) 75 Cal. App. 4th 1165). In *People v. Rains*, the court of appeal held that it is error to admit evidence about the consequences of a true finding in an SVPA case because such evidence is irrelevant to the question of whether the defendant met the criteria of the SVPA. (5 Cal. App. 4th at 1170).

The prosecutor herein asked the jury to consider the consequences of their verdict, namely, that if released, appellant would be living near two elementary schools and a big park without the safeguard of parole. The court of appeal properly applied the rule of law that inviting a jury to consider speculative matters beyond the evidence and appealing to its fear

at the guilt phase of a trial is prosecutorial misconduct. (*People v. Kirkes* (1952) 39 Cal.2d 719, 724; *People v. Pensinger* (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1210, 1250.)

Telling the jury that appellant would be living near schools and not on parole was not only improper because it asked jurors to consider matters after the verdict, it also appealed to the jurors' passions, prejudices and fears by appealing to them to render a true finding in order to insure the safety of the community. (*In re Brian J.* (2007) 150 Cal. App. 4th 97).

2. The Court of Appeal Did Not Rule on The Issue Posed by Respondent, So It is Not Properly Before This Court

The court of appeal did not hold that the prosecutor cannot examine witnesses in a civil commitment trial under the Sexually Violent Predators Act about the defendant's plans for release. Instead, it found prosecutorial misconduct when the prosecutor asked the defendant to look at elementary schools "very close to where [he'd] be living" on a map, and then argue to the jury that he would not be on parole if released, and that there "was no stopping him." (9 RT 1099-1100, 10 RT 1229-30).

The court of appeal held that:

"A defendant's potential punishment or lack thereof is not a proper matter for juror consideration. (citations omitted). There is no question *the prosecutor's comments regarding the schools and lack of parole* were designed to make the jury

consider the consequences of its decision in this case. Such considerations are wholly improper, and cast doubt on the jury's ability to properly consider the evidence in this case." (Opn. at 12; emphasis added).

This is a limited ruling and is significantly different than the issue set forth by respondent. Respondent's claim that this decision is a "profoundly disruptive precedent for the prosecution of SVP cases statewide" is unfounded. (PFR at 6). The court did not hold that it is misconduct for the prosecutor to examine witnesses about the defendant's plans for release. The court did not hold that the prosecutor may not ask about a defendant's "living circumstances upon release." The court did not hold "inadmissible the defendant's proposed community and lack of parole restrictions if released." (PFR at 6).

Although respondent endeavors to make this case about admissibility of evidence and the appropriateness of questioning about a defendant's release plan in SVP cases, these were not issues relevant to this case, nor part of the opinion. The court did not make any sweeping statements that a prosecutor may not ask about a defendant's release plan. The opinion refers specifically to the argument made by the prosecutor in closing argument with regard to appellant living near schools and not being on parole.

3. Respondent Has Mischaracterized the Manner in Which "Necessity for Confinement in a Secure Facility" is Proven in SVP Cases

The determination of whether or not a defendant in an SVP case is likely to reoffend "unless confined in a secure facility" does not require a jury to consider where the defendant would be living when he is released. The determination of whether or not a defendant is likely to reoffend is obtained through expert testimony, not by analyzing the risks that exist in his proposed neighborhood.

Respondent cites to *People v. Grassini* (2003) 113 Cal. App. 4th 765 and *People v. Superior Court (Ghilotti)* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 888, for the proposition that: "Because confinement in a secure facility is an element that must be proved by the prosecution, the jury had to consider whether the circumstances surrounding release affects defendant's amenability to voluntary treatment, or otherwise affects his risk of reoffense." (PFR at 9). *Grassini, Ghilotti* and the statute itself do not support this erroneous statement of the law.

In *Grassini*, the court held that, when a defendant claims that treatment can take place in an outpatient facility, the jury must be instructed that the prosecution has to prove that treatment in a secure facility is necessary to protect the public. (*Id.* at 777). That determination does not require or allow the jury to consider where the defendant will be living if released. Indeed, it would run in severe contravention to long-standing

principles of both criminal and SVPA law if the prosecutor were allowed to counter a *Grassini* defense by introducing evidence of all the potential dangers in the neighborhood where the defendant planned to reside.

Respondent claims that "[b]y holding such an examination and argument improper, the court of appeal impermissibly burdens the prosecution's ability to prove its case and hobbles the factfinder in SVP trial from considering relevant evidence on the central issues allocated to it for decision." (PFR at 10). The court of appeal did not make any such limitation on the ability of the prosecution to prove its case. The evidence of schools in the neighborhood has no reasonable application to any "central issue" in an SVP case. The prosecutor herein asked no questions of the defendant about how he would avoid reoffending in the proximity of schools. He merely pointed out all the places where children would be in the area of his mother's home and then he used that to argue to the jury that appellant would be near children and not on parole. This is distinctly different from the issue presented by respondent.

Review should be denied because: (1) the court of appeal applied the longstanding rule in both criminal and SVP cases that the jury cannot be asked to consider the consequences of its verdict; (2) the court of appeal did not decide that the prosecutor could not ask questions and make argument regarding defendant's "release plans"; and (3) the court of appeal in no way

limited the ability of the prosecutor to prove the necessity for secure confinement.

ISSUE #2: Did the Court of Appeal Err in Finding Misconduct as to Questions and Argument to Which There Was No Objection, Failing to Consider the Remarks in the Entire Context of Trial, and in Relying on Unpreserved Claims and Proper Prosecutorial Conduct to Find Prejudice?

As is detailed below, there were multiple objections made by defense counsel in this case, including:

-multiple objections regarding questioning of defense expert about five other sex offenders he evaluated and listing the heinous details of their crimes (9 RT 987-90, 991-94);

-objection to calling defense counsel "deceptive" in closing argument (10 RT 1278-79);

-objection to argumentative, improper questioning of defense witness Michael Ross (8 RT 870-71, 878);

-objections to calling appellant as the "unluckiest child molester in the world" and implying that he had committed many more crimes for which he wasn't caught in closing argument (10 RT 1242); and

-multiple objections regarding asking the jury to consider how it would explain a verdict of "not true" to their friends and family. (10 RT 1283-1284).

The record reveals that defense counsel objected to each instance of misconduct except for the questioning of appellant about the map of his

neighborhood, and the remarks made in closing argument about "grooming," appellant's witnesses being "two serial rapist and a child molester," and the disparaging of Dr. Donaldson. (Appellant also made a motion in limine asking that it not be mentioned that appellant would not be on parole if released, which was denied.) (4 RT 174, 2 CT 359.)

Respondent alleges that the court of appeal's consideration of the conduct for which there was not an objection, in conjunction with the conduct for which there was an objection, puts at risk this Court's contemporaneous objection rule. First, as is apparent from the record, most of the instances of misconduct were objected to. Second, the court of appeal applied the well-settled rule that when misconduct is part of a pattern and multiple objections are made, it is proper for a reviewing court to consider it in evaluating the pattern of impropriety. (*People v. Estrada* (1998) 63 Cal. App. 4th 1090.)

Further, it must be noted that, while nearly all the conduct was objected to, not one objection was sustained. As held in *People v. Hill*, "a defendant will be excused from the necessity of either a timely objection and/or a request for admonition if either would be futile. In addition, failure to request the jury be admonished does not forfeit the issue for appeal if 'an admonition would not have cured the harm caused by the misconduct." [citations omitted]. (*People v. Hill* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800, 820-21).

At the outset of its opinion, the court of appeal recited the appropriate standards for analyzing misconduct as follows:

"Under federal constitutional standards, a prosecutor's 'intemperate behavior' constitutes misconduct if it is so 'egregious' as to render the trial 'fundamentally unfair' under due process principles. [People v. Samayoa (1997) 15 Cal.4th 795, 841]. Under state law, a prosecutor commits misconduct by engaging in deceptive or reprehensible methods of persuasion. Where a prosecutor has engaged in misconduct, the reviewing court considers the record as a whole to determine if the alleged harm resulted in a miscarriage of justice. (People v. Duncan (1991) 53 Cal.3d 955, 976-77). In considering prejudice, 'when the claim focuses upon comments made by the prosecutor before the jury, the question is whether there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury construed or applied any of the complained-of remarks in an objectionable fashion.' (Samayoa, supra, 15 Cal.4th at. P. 841).

"Our Supreme Court in *Samayoa* stated that a prosecutor commits misconduct by using deceptive and reprehensible means of persuasion. (*Samayoa*, *supra*, 15 Cal.4th at. P. 841).

A review of the record reveals that the court correctly applied the standards for prosecutorial misconduct, and the prosecutor's comments

were generally unambiguous and not subject to a wide variety of interpretation. There was no risk of the comments being construed out of context. The court of appeal properly considered the record as whole. In applying the above principles to this case, the court of appeal concluded that:

"[t]his is not a case in which the prosecutor engaged in a few minor incidents of improper conduct. Rather, the prosecutor engaged in a pervasive pattern of inappropriate questions, comments and argument, throughout the entire trial, each one building on the next, to such a degree as to undermine the fairness of the proceedings. The misconduct culminated in the prosecutor flagrantly violating the law in closing argument, telling the jury to consider the reaction of their friends and family to their verdict implying they would be subject to ridicule and condemnation if they found in favor of defendant. The cumulative effect of all the prosecutor's misconduct requires reversal. (See *People v. Riggs* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 248, 298.)"

Below, appellant responds to the categories of misconduct as set forth by respondent in the Petition for Review.

1. Questioning About Defendant's "Release Plans"

As indicated above, the court of appeal herein never ruled that the prosecutor may not ask about "release plans," so there is no necessity for

review of this issue. Instead, the court of appeal applied the well-settled standard that it is improper to ask the jury to consider the consequences of its verdict. It held that the prosecutor committed misconduct by showing appellant a map of the area he intended to live if released and pointing out two elementary schools, a park, a McDonald's, and a shopping center nearby, and then telling the jury that, if released, appellant would be near schools and not on parole. This asked the jury to improperly consider what would happen if appellant is released – the specific consequences of their verdict.

2. Discussion of Parole

Inviting a jury to consider speculative matters beyond the evidence and appealing to its fear at the guilt phase of a trial is prosecutorial misconduct. (*People v. Kirkes* (1952) 39 Cal.2d 719, 724; *People v. Pensinger* (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1210, 1250.)

During closing argument, the prosecutor stated:

"And so there is really no stopping Mr. Shazier, not even when he was on parole. And now of course, you know, he is not on parole. So when Mr. Shazier tells you that he is going to go live in Maryland with his mother, the only thing you have to go – the only thing that you have to believe that is what Mr. Shazier said." (10 RT 1229-30).

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